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Case No. ______________ 

 

Plaintiffs’ Original Complaint 

Plaintiffs Eddie Patent Holdings LLC (“Eddie”), Giddy Holdings, Inc. (“Giddy”), and 

Brett Jacobson file this Complaint against Defendants Callan JMB, Inc. (“CJMB”), Coldchain 

Technology Services, LLC (“Coldchain”), Monarch Property Management, LLC (“Monarch”), 

Wayne D. Williams, Donna Williams, Liberty Smith Duke, Revival Health Inc. (“Revival”), and 

James J. Chao, MD, alleging federal claims under the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-

tions Act (“RICO”), and state-law claims for fraud, negligent misrepresentation, promissory es-

toppel, quantum meruit, and civil conspiracy. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case concerns a coordinated scheme to defraud Plaintiffs, who believed they had found 

ideal partners that seemed to address their every need—and had the money to fund them. But to 

access them, Plaintiffs had to meet imminent deadlines, incur immediate obligations, and accept 

vague explanations. But due to repeated reassurances, Plaintiffs had no qualms with moving 

quickly to secure what seemed to be a legitimate, profitable opportunity.  

Without explanation, communications slowed, then eventually ceased—only for Plaintiffs 

to receive a blunt, total repudiation of the deal. In truth, the forthcoming investment reserves were 

neither untouched nor freely deployable. They had instead been earmarked for other acquisitions 

and capital projects, including a separate Alabama real estate venture structured through undis-

closed insider-owned entities to obtain state-based tax incentives. While Plaintiffs were demanded 

to ship inventory and finalize agreements, Defendants engaged in a pattern of escalating misrepre-

sentation to obfuscate the object of their unlawful enterprise: to promise the same financing 

sources to multiple parties to pursue Project Summit and related incentives. 

Plaintiffs performed, incurred substantial legal fees, and forewent a concrete multimillion-

dollar investment opportunity. By this suit, Plaintiffs seek to hold Defendants accountable. 

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Eddie is a Texas limited liability company with its principal place of busi-

ness in Dallas County, Texas.  

2. Plaintiff Giddy is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Dal-

las County, Texas. 

3. Plaintiff Brett Jacobson is an individual residing in Dallas County, Texas. 

4. Defendant CJMB is a Nevada corporation with its principal place of business at 244 

Flightline Dr., Spring Branch, Texas 78070. 

5. Defendant Coldchain is a Texas limited liability company and subsidiary of CJMB, 

with its principal place of business also at 244 Flightline Dr., Spring Branch, Texas 78070. 
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6. Defendant Monarch (formerly known as “Judson College Properties, LLC”) is an 

Alabama limited liability company with its principal place of business at 76 Calendula St., Spring 

Branch, Texas 78070. 

7. Defendants Wayne D. Williams and Donna Williams reside at 76 Calendula St., 

Spring Branch, Texas 78070. 

8. On information and belief, Defendant Liberty Smith Duke resides in Chilton 

County, Alabama. 

9. Defendant Revival is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 

1601 N. Sepulveda Blvd., Pmb. #103, Manhattan Beach, California 90266. 

10. On information and belief, Defendant Dr. James J. Chao resides in San Diego 

County, California. 

JURISDICTION 

11. Per 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338, the Court has federal question jurisdiction over 

this suit because it includes a claim arising under RICO, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961–1968. This Court has 

supplemental jurisdiction over the remaining claims under 15 U.S.C. § 1119 and 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

12. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants CJMB, Coldchain, and Mon-

arch because their principal places of business are all in Texas. The Court also has personal juris-

diction over Defendants Wayne and Donna Williams because they are domiciled in Texas. The 

foregoing Defendants can be served within the territorial limits of Texas. 

13. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants Liberty Duke, Revival, and 

Dr. Chao because they regularly transacted business underlying Plaintiffs’ claims in Texas, pur-

posefully conducted and directed certain representations to Plaintiffs in Texas, and thereby caused 

foreseeable injury to Plaintiffs in Texas. 

VENUE 

14. Under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)(1), (b)(2), and (c), venue is proper in this District be-

cause Defendants CJMB, Coldchain, Monarch, Mr. Williams, and Ms. Williams are domiciled in 
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this District, all Defendants are subject to personal jurisdiction in this District, and a substantial 

part of the relevant events giving rise to this Complaint occurred within this District. 

BACKGROUND 

 Eddie, the developer of a pioneering sexual health device, sought to expand its 
market to United States veterans and service members. 

15. Plaintiffs developed and commercialized a patented, wearable FDA Class II medical 

device designed to address erectile dysfunction (“ED”) without the use of prescription medica-

tions. The device is manufactured from medical-grade materials and is intended to provide a non-

pharmaceutical option for men experiencing ED. Eddie owns all intellectual property associated 

with the Eddie product line. Giddy licenses the distribution rights to the product line from Eddie 

and is responsible for commercialization, storage, assembly, fulfillment, and distribution opera-

tions.  

16. Plaintiffs pursued expansion of their device within federal healthcare systems serv-

ing active-duty service members and veterans, including the Department of Veterans Affairs (the 

“VA”) and the Department of Defense (“DoD”). Prior to engaging Defendants, Plaintiffs had 

already secured federal contracting vehicles, which permitted product access within the federal 

system but required incremental, facility-by-facility adoption. Plaintiffs sought to accelerate and 

scale distribution through integration with an established prime contractor, which would allow 

broader, top-down allocation of the product across federal networks on a materially faster timeline.  

17. Although Plaintiffs had secured federal contracting vehicles permitting product ac-

cess within the VA and DoD systems, materially expanding distribution through prime-level inte-

gration would ordinarily require navigating a lengthy and competitive federal procurement pro-

cess, often exceeding a year, and demonstrating past performance, infrastructure, and scale com-

parable to incumbent prime contractors. As a practical matter, meaningful “top-down” expansion 

was most efficiently attainable through alignment with an established prime contractor possessing 

existing federal relationships, contracting authority, and demonstrated performance. 
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18. Securing or expanding prime-level federal contracting authority involves a com-

plex, highly regulated procurement process governed by the Federal Acquisition Regulation 

(“FAR”) and agency-specific requirements. Prospective prime contractors must demonstrate es-

tablished past performance, operational scale, supply-chain capacity, pricing structures, compli-

ance protocols, and the administrative infrastructure necessary to service multiple federal facili-

ties. The process is competitive, documentation-intensive, and typically unfolds over an extended 

period of time. As a result, absent partnership with an incumbent prime contractor already pos-

sessing such status and relationships, accelerated system-wide integration is not readily achievable.  

19. Federal agencies routinely favor incumbent prime contractors with demonstrated 

past performance, established compliance systems, and existing agency relationships. Entities 

without prior prime-contracting history face significant competitive disadvantages in attempting 

to secure comparable status, particularly where large-scale, multi-facility distribution is contem-

plated. As a practical matter, pursuing prime-level authority independently is typically a prolonged 

and resource-intensive undertaking, frequently requiring extensive preparation, documentation, 

negotiations, and agency review over an extended period before any award is made. 

20. In light of these structural barriers, suppliers seeking to scale distribution within 

federally administered healthcare systems often pursue strategic alignment with established prime 

contractors in order to accelerate access and avoid the extended timeline, expense, and uncertainty 

associated with independently securing prime-level authority. Absent such a partnership, Plaintiffs 

continued pursuing a “bottom-up” expansion strategy, leveraging their existing federal contract-

ing vehicles to drive facility-level adoption within the VA and DoD systems while incrementally 

building the operational footprint necessary for broader integration. 

21. Expanded integration within the VA and DoD systems would have materially 

increased Plaintiffs’ enterprise value and strengthened ongoing capital discussions. Plaintiffs’ 

rapid commercial growth in a large and underserved segment of the men’s health market had 

already attracted interest from sophisticated, institutional investors. Broader federal adoption, 

particularly through prime-level integration, would have provided immediate, scalable revenue 
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validation and objective performance benchmarks, significantly enhancing valuation metrics used 

in capital raises and strategic transactions.  At the time of these discussions, Plaintiffs were actively 

engaged in a capital raise and had received investment from investors for a substantial portion of 

the round. Defendants were informed that Plaintiffs’ decisions regarding alternative financing 

would be directly impacted by the availability of the promised $25 million investment and federal 

rollout. 

 Dr. Chao, a Revival principal, offered Plaintiffs the opportunity to sell their devices 
through CJMB, an established prime contractor and a Revival partner. 

22. On December 5, 2025, in Dallas, Texas, Mr. Jacobson met with Dr. James Chao (a 

co-founder and Revival executive) and his son, Connor Chao. Dr. Chao was in Dallas visiting Con-

nor, an SMU student, and joined Mr. Jacobson and a mutual acquaintance for dinner. During that 

meeting, Dr. Chao represented that Revival maintained a close strategic relationship with CJMB, 

and that CJMB possessed established federal prime-contractor access within the VA system. Dr. 

Chao told Mr. Jacobson about Revival’s successful multistate distribution of Medicare-covered 

GLP-1 drugs. Dr. Chao attributed this success to Revival’s partnership with CJMB, a supplier and 

logistical solutions provider for healthcare-related goods and services. Specifically, CJMB—via its 

subsidiary Coldchain Technology Services, LLC (“Coldchain”)— has served as a prime contrac-

tor for the VA and the DoD for over a decade. 

23. Importantly, Dr. Chao represented to Mr. Jacobson that Revival could facilitate 

Plaintiffs’ rollout with these departments via CJMB’s prime-contracting relationships. Plaintiffs 

would accordingly have “top-down” access to VA and DoD marketplaces. To that end, Dr. Chao 

promised to introduce Mr. Jacobson to Wayne Williams, CJMB and Coldchain’s CEO, chairman, 

and founder. 

 Dr. Chao coordinates a call with himself, Mr. Jacobson, and Mr. Williams. 

24. Dr. Chao facilitated an introductory phone call among himself, Mr. Jacobson, and 

Mr. Williams, which occurred on December 19, 2025.  
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25. There, Mr. Williams—on behalf of CJMB—represented that he could secure 

prime-level access for Plaintiffs through CJMB’s existing federal relationships. Mr. Williams con-

firmed that CJMB could facilitate accelerated, system-wide rollout of the Eddie device within fed-

erally administered marketplaces and represented that such access was not otherwise readily avail-

able to Plaintiffs through their existing contracting vehicles.  

26. Mr. Williams further emphasized that time was of the essence. He stated that Plain-

tiffs and CJMB would need to agree upon and execute the material terms of the transaction before 

a January 2026 contracting window closed. According to Mr. Williams, failure to finalize the ar-

rangement before that deadline would result in Plaintiffs being excluded from prime-level integra-

tion opportunities for the remainder of the year. These representations created urgency and were 

presented as a limited-time opportunity requiring immediate action.  

 Mr. Jacobson, along with an Eddie investor, then met with CJMB’s and Revival’s 
principals to solidify deal terms. 

27. Believing time was limited, Mr. Jacobson agreed to meet with Williams and Dr. 

Chao soon after. Dr. Chao facilitated an in-person meeting among Mr. Jacobson Mr. Williams, 

Donna Williams (Mr. Williams’s spouse and CJMB’s Director of Operations), Elliot Zemel (on 

behalf of an Eddie investor group), Ryan Richardson (Plaintiffs’ Regional Government Sales Di-

rector), and Connor.  

28. On December 29, 2025, these individuals met in San Antonio, Texas, for nearly 8 

hours. 

29. During that meeting, Mr. Williams described CJMB’s deteriorating financial and 

market position following its decision to go public. He stated that the timing of CJMB’s public 

listing “couldn’t have been worse,” explaining that changes in federal vaccine programs had ma-

terially reduced CJMB’s primary revenue niche. He complained that CJMB’s stock price had 

fallen significantly and that CJMB was under public-market pressure. He further referenced CJMB 

board member Eric Kash as having advised and assisted him in connection with taking the company 

public. 
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30. Mr. Williams then described a redevelopment initiative involving the former Jud-

son College campus in Marion, Alabama (the “Judson Property”). He stated that the college had 

closed during the COVID-19 period but had undergone substantial renovation prior to closing, and 

that the State of Alabama was offering significant economic incentives tied to capital investment 

and job creation. Mr. Williams described the initiative, referred to as “Project Summit,” as a major 

strategic opportunity for CJMB involving pharmaceutical logistics, research, and related opera-

tions. He represented that CJMB intended to utilize facilities at the property for vaccine-related 

research and distribution, including potential equine facilities and leased laboratory space, and that 

additional facilities could be used for affiliated operations. Mr. Williams stated that the project 

required approximately $5 million in near-term funding. 

31. Mr. Williams asked whether Plaintiffs, Mr. Zemel’s investor group, or Plaintiffs’ 

principals would provide the approximately $5 million needed for Project Summit through an in-

vestment or loan. Mr. Jacobson responded that Plaintiffs could not provide that financing. Alt-

hough the parties briefly discussed whether Mr. Jacobson could facilitate introductions to potential 

financing sources, no agreement was reached regarding any third-party funding for Project Sum-

mit. 

32. Mr. Williams rejected the need for third-party capital and stated that he would in-

stead fund the transaction through CJMB’s Equity Line of Credit (the “ELOC”). He proposed 

that CJMB would invest $25 million into Eddie Patent Holdings LLC, rather than $20 million, but 

only if Plaintiffs agreed to acquire the Judson Property as part of the overall transaction. Mr. Wil-

liams represented that approximately $5 million of the total economic arrangement would be allo-

cated toward acquisition and redevelopment of the Judson Property. 

33. Mr. Jacobson expressed concern that equity-line financing often carries re-

strictions, trading limitations, and market-based conditions that could impair CJMB’s ability to 

deliver a $25 million lump-sum investment on a compressed timeline. In response, Mr. Williams 

represented unequivocally that CJMB had not materially drawn upon the ELOC, that the full $25 

million was available, and that he could access and deploy the funds at his sole discretion without 
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restrictions, encumbrances, or limitations. Mr. Williams represented that the funds were immedi-

ately available and sufficient to close the contemplated transaction. 

34. Dr. Chao reinforced Mr. Williams’s funding assurances. In response to Mr. Jacob-

son’s continued concern regarding timing and certainty of ELOC funding, Dr. Chao represented 

that Revival would provide a $25 million bridge loan if CJMB’s ELOC funding did not materialize 

on the required timeline. Dr. Chao stated, in substance, that Revival would extend such bridge 

financing for whatever duration was necessary to allow the transaction to close. 

35. Based on these representations, Mr. Williams and Mr. Jacobson agreed in principle 

to material terms including: (a) a $25 million investment by CJMB into Eddie Patent Holdings LLC 

funded through the ELOC; (b) issuance of 250 units to CJMB pursuant to the same investor doc-

umentation used for other investors in the round; (c) a 6.25% royalty on product revenue payable 

monthly, with escalating guaranteed minimum royalties; (d) CJMB’s appointment as prime ven-

dor for VA and DoD distribution and provider of related fulfillment services; and (e) Plaintiffs’ 

acquisition of the Judson Property, with approximately $5 million allocated within the overall eco-

nomic structure toward that acquisition and related improvements. 

36. During the meeting, Mr. Williams expressly advised Plaintiffs not to proceed with 

a previously discussed $20 million investment from Elliot Zemel and the investor group he repre-

sented. Mr. Williams stated that CJMB’s proposed $25 million investment would replace the need 

for that financing and that CJMB would be a superior strategic partner because it could purportedly 

deliver accelerated federal integration through its claimed prime-contracting relationships. 

37. Mr. Williams repeatedly emphasized that the transaction needed to be documented 

and executed on an emergency timeline. He stated that the parties needed to sign no later than 

January 5, 2026 in order to preserve access to a purported January 26, 2026 federal contracting 

window and that failure to close by that date would foreclose prime-level integration opportunities 

for the year. He presented this deadline as non-negotiable and demanded immediate action over 

the New Year’s holiday. 
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38. The compressed timeline and referenced “January 26, 2026” contracting window 

were presented as a non-negotiable drop-dead deadline to force Plaintiffs’ immediate performance 

and expenditures. Defendants’ later repudiation, coupled with Defendants’ admissions that the 

ELOC was already earmarked for other projects, demonstrates that the purported urgency was not 

a good-faith contracting constraint, but a pressure tactic used to induce reliance and extract near-

term value for Defendants’ other objectives. 

39. At the conclusion of the meeting, after the agreed terms were restated, Mr. Wil-

liams stood, walked to Mr. Jacobson, and shook his hand, stating words to the effect of “we have a 

deal.” Donna Williams instructed Mr. Williams to shake Mr. Jacobson’s hand again and stated, in 

substance, that Mr. Jacobson was now “family” and how eager she was to meet Mr. Jacobson’s 

fiancé and Ryan Richardson’s wife.  

40. After leaving CJMB’s offices, Mr. Jacobson traveled toward the airport with Dr. 

Chao and Connor Chao. During that drive, Dr. Chao reiterated that Mr. Williams could be trusted 

and reaffirmed that the transaction would close. Dr. Chao again stated that Revival would backstop 

the funding if CJMB could not promptly deliver the ELOC proceeds.  

41. In reliance on these representations, Plaintiffs understood that CJMB had both the 

present financial capacity and the committed strategic intent to invest $25 million, that the funding 

was not contingent upon additional approvals or market conditions, and that Revival would ensure 

completion of the transaction if necessary. 

42. Plaintiffs would not have proceeded on Defendants’ emergency timeline, incurred 

the associated legal expense, or foregone alternative financing absent Dr. Chao’s repeated assur-

ances that Revival would provide a $25,000,000 bridge loan if CJMB could not timely access the 

ELOC proceeds. Defendants made these assurances to eliminate Plaintiffs’ stated concerns about 

ELOC uncertainty and to induce Plaintiffs’ immediate reliance and performance. 

43. Plaintiffs further understood that time was of the essence and that immediate prep-

aration of definitive agreements was required in order to meet the January 5 execution deadline 

and preserve the purported January 26 federal contracting opportunity described by Mr. Williams. 
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 Mr. Williams connects Mr. Jacobson to Liberty Duke, a director on CJMB’s board. 

44. Ms. Duke was appointed as a director of CJMB effective February 4, 2025. She has 

worked with CJMB and its affiliates since at least 2023 in connection with healthcare and immun-

ization initiatives. Ms. Duke also serves as president of ERIS, Inc., through which she provides 

management, consulting, and lobbying services, including lobbying activities within the Alabama 

legislature. Upon information and belief, Ms. Duke played a central role in advancing Project Sum-

mit within the State of Alabama.1 

45. On December 30, 2025, Mr. Williams sent an email to Mr. Jacobson and Ms. Duke. 

There, Mr. Williams asked Ms. Duke to “send him everything on Judson,” and repeated the terms 

of the arrangement—“once we lock down the ELOC with Giddy, he will fund the Judson project 

through our Judson Coll[e]ge [P]roperties LLC . . . .”  

Figure 1: Mr. Williams’s Dec. 30, 2025 Email 

 
 
1  Former Alabama Senator Gerald Dial was also appointed to the CJMB board on February 4, 

2025. 
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46. That same day, Ms. Duke responded with her acknowledgement, and told Mr. Ja-

cobson to “stand by for documents,” and proceeded to transmit materials related to the Judson 

Property and Project Summit. 

47. Ms. Duke then sent Mr. Jacobson the October 21, 2025 “Project Summit Joint Of-

fer”2 from “the State of Alabama, the City of Marion, and Perry County.”  

48. The joint proposal was addressed to “CallanJMB,” contrary to what Mr. Wil-

liams’s had previously represented about CJMB’s purported non-involvement with Project Sum-

mit: 

Figure 2: Excerpt from Project Summit Joint Offer 

49. The Joint Offer includes a letter from the Alabama Secretary of Commerce, ad-

dressed to Mr. Williams’s Coldchain email address. The letter similarly references “CallanJMB” 

and relays the understanding “that Project Summit will see an investment of $24,500,000”—

which coincided with CJMB’s $25 million ELOC amount considering closing costs: 

 
 
2  Attached as Ex. 1, Project Summit Joint Offer. 
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Figure 3: Excerpt from Secretary of Commerce Letter to Mr. Williams 

50. Ms. Duke sent a December 5, 2025 agreement between the “State of Alabama and 

Coldchain Technology Services, LLC” (the “Project Summit Agreement”).3 The agreement also 

contemplates “a total Capital Investment” of $24.5 million: 

Figure 4: Excerpt of Project Summit Agreement 

51. The Project Summit Agreement confirms CJMB’s (and Coldchain’s) goal to estab-

lish a “Center of Excellence” for pharmaceutical and technology research and development, pro-

duction, and “global logistics hub.” 

52. The Project Summit Agreement expressly states, “in reliance on the Company’s 

representations of the Capital Investment, employment and wage levels, and the undertaking of 

 
 
3  Attached as Ex. 2, Project Summit Agreement. 
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the Project,” the Alabama government committed to providing “certain incentives,” which were 

estimated to total $10,257,176. 

53. The Project Summit Agreement also includes a Project Schedule: 

Figure 5: Project Summit Agreement Schedule 

54. Per the schedule, construction would commence on January 15, 2026. The target 

date for the capital investment is March 1, 2026. 

 Upon Mr. Williams’s express demands, Plaintiffs shipped from overseas 500,000 
units of inventory to CJMB. 

55. On December 30, per Mr. Williams’s express authorization and direction (and be-

fore any documents were executed), Mr. Williams requested 10 pallets of product (equivalent to 1 

million units of Plaintiffs’ device) shipped to CJMB, who Mr. Williams claimed could handle all of 

Plaintiffs’ packaging needs. Not only was this request a sizable task, it required Plaintiffs to coor-

dinate overseas shipment from Singapore.  

56. When Mr. Jacobson asked how CJMB intended to pay for these units, Mr. Williams 

said, “Don’t worry about pricing,” and “We’ll match whatever you need.” Mr. Jacobson accord-

ingly complied and took steps to reroute the inventory from Singapore to CJMB. However, Mr. 
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Williams never followed through with his promise to pay for the units. Fortunately, Plaintiffs were 

able to reroute the delivery again to another packer, but incurred substantial costs to effect the 

initial change. 

 At a CJMB board call, Plaintiffs were subjected to unexpected hostility from certain 
board members. 

57. On December 31, 2025, Mr. Jacobson participated in a telephonic CJMB board 

meeting. In attendance were Mr. Williams and various other CJMB board members: Christopher 

Shields, Mark Meller, and Eric Kash. Dr. Chao was also present, along with David Porzio (manag-

ing director of a New York-based investment fund), an associate of CJMB’s outside counsel; and 

a corporate attorney for Plaintiffs. Ms. Duke did not attend. 

58. Based on Mr. Williams’s prior representations and repeated assurances that the 

transaction was board-aligned and fully vetted, Mr. Jacobson reasonably believed the board had 

already evaluated and approved the agreed-upon terms. Instead, when Mr. Williams presented the 

transaction and described the projected revenue, guaranteed minimum royalties, and the antici-

pated federal integration, certain board members reacted with overt hostility. Mr. Kash demeaned 

Plaintiffs’ business and product using coarse and reductionist language, belittling both the device 

and the sexual health industry generally. He questioned the legitimacy and scalability of Plaintiffs’ 

operations and attacked Mr. Jacobson personally. Mr. Meller similarly disparaged the company, 

characterizing the transaction as a distraction and a “waste of time.” 

59. During the call, Mr. Meller and Mr. Kash referenced alternative strategic plans for 

CJMB, including the acquisition or partial acquisition of certain distribution clients as part of an 

“on-shoring” initiative. Those acquisitions, according to the discussion, would also be funded 

through CJMB’s ELOC, constituting a third contemplated use of the same financing source that 

Mr. Williams had represented was fully available for Plaintiffs’ transaction and for Project Summit. 

60. Mr. Williams openly argued with Mr. Meller and Mr. Kash during the call. He 

stated that their alternative plans would not generate meaningful revenue in 2026 and asserted that 

the Eddie transaction was a “no-brainer” that would produce immediate guaranteed royalty 
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revenue and solve CJMB’s top-line and profitability concerns. Mr. Williams stated he intended to 

move forward with the transaction despite their objections. 

61. The call ended without a formal vote or clear confirmation of board authorization. 

The unexpected hostility and references to alternative ELOC uses caused Mr. Jacobson to question 

whether the board had, in fact, approved the transaction and whether Mr. Williams had accurately 

represented CJMB’s authority and financial capacity. 

 Mr. Williams’s calls Mr. Jacobson after the board call to apologize and reaffirm 
CJMB’s commitment to continue moving forward. 

62. Later that day, Mr. Williams had a one-on-one call with Mr. Jacobson, apologizing 

for Mr. Kash’s hostility and reiterating CJMB’s commitment to the January 26 deadline. Calling 

the deal a “Mr. Williams stated that his attorney, Ross, had reviewed the transaction and described 

it as “a gift from God” that needed to be signed immediately. Mr. Williams emphasized that the 

agreements had to be finalized and executed no later than January 5, 2026, before he departed for 

Asia with Dr. Chao and Mr. Fujioka. He further stated that funding needed to be secured before 

that trip in order for the deal to move forward on schedule. Mr. Jacobson responded that he would 

work with counsel to transmit execution-ready agreements as quickly as possible. 

63. During that same call, Mr. Williams stated that he had informed Mr. Kash that he 

was fired from the board. Mr. Williams then asked Mr. Jacobson whether he would be willing to 

join the CJMB board in Mr. Kash’s place. Mr. Jacobson agreed in principle. When asked what 

compensation he would expect, Mr. Jacobson stated that he would require only a modest travel 

allowance if in-person attendance were necessary. Mr. Williams represented that Mr. Kash had 

been receiving approximately $200,000 per year in board compensation and characterized him as 

disloyal and self-interested. 

64. Mr. Williams also pressed Mr. Jacobson to authorize an immediate public an-

nouncement regarding Plaintiffs’ partnership with CJMB and the anticipated funding of Project 

Summit, even though no funds had yet been delivered. Mr. Jacobson refused, stating that no an-

nouncement could be made until the agreements were executed and funding was secured. Mr. 
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Williams responded that accessing the full $25 million through the ELOC might take several 

weeks. Mr. Jacobson stated that, if so, Revival would need to bridge the funding to allow the trans-

action to close and any announcement to proceed responsibly. Mr. Williams indicated that a bridge 

might take several days and suggested that a partial funding could support an announcement. 

65. During this discussion, Mr. Jacobson also raised concerns regarding the significant 

legal costs required to prepare definitive agreements on an emergency basis over the New Year’s 

holiday. He explained that completing the documentation under the compressed timeline would 

likely cost several hundred thousand dollars. Mr. Williams nevertheless insisted that the docu-

ments needed to be prepared immediately and reiterated that the transaction was board-approved 

and required urgent execution. In reliance on those representations, Mr. Jacobson authorized ap-

proximately $200,000 in legal expenditures to finalize the agreements on an expedited basis.  

66. Mr. Jacobson further expressed ongoing confusion and concern regarding the struc-

ture of the Judson Property acquisition, including whether Giddy would ultimately transfer the 

property to CJMB or Coldchain, how ownership would be structured, and the potential conflicts 

of interest inherent in requiring Plaintiffs to fund an asset that appeared to benefit insiders. Mr. 

Williams dismissed these concerns and assured Mr. Jacobson that the structure was board-ap-

proved and would be handled through a separate entity, Judson College Properties, LLC (the “Jud-

son LLC”).  

67. On the afternoon of December 31, 2025, Mr. Williams sent Mr. Jacobson an email 

with the subject line “The entity that will own Judson,” attaching documentation identifying the 

ownership and formation details of the Judson LLC.  

68. The attached documentation revealed that the members of the Judson LLC were 

Donna Williams, Liberty Duke, Dr. James Chao, and Wayne Williams. The listed company address 

corresponded to the Williamses’ personal residence. This disclosure contradicted prior represen-

tations minimizing Mr. Williams’s involvement in the real estate transaction and portraying the 

structure as separate from CJMB’s internal interests. 
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Figure 6: Member Information for the Judson LLC 

69. The documentation further revealed that Ms. Duke, then a CJMB board member, 

and Dr. Chao, who had represented that Revival would guarantee a $25 million bridge, were both 

members of the Judson LLC. Mr. Jacobson noted that this ownership structure materially con-

flicted with prior representations that the Judson acquisition would be separate from CJMB’s cor-

porate affairs and free of insider conflicts. 

70. Mr. Jacobson also found it problematic that the individuals listed as members of the 

Judson LLC did not align with the representations made to Alabama governmental authorities in 

connection with Project Summit, where CJMB and Coldchain were presented as the operating 

entities. The involvement of privately held insider-owned affiliates, including non-CJMB members 
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such as Donna Williams and Dr. Chao, further reinforced Mr. Jacobson’s concerns regarding con-

flicts of interest, self-dealing, and the use of affiliated entities to structure the transaction. 

 Plaintiffs circulated execution-ready agreements the next day.  

71. Per Mr. Williams’s repeated instructions that the transaction be executed no later 

than January 5, 2026, Mr. Jacobson transmitted final execution-ready versions of the draft agree-

ments on January 1, 2026. Before doing so, Mr. Jacobson expressly raised concerns regarding the 

substantial legal expense required to prepare complex investment, royalty, prime-vendor, fulfill-

ment, and real-estate-related agreements on an emergency basis over the New Year’s holiday. Mr. 

Williams nevertheless insisted that the documents needed to be completed immediately, reiterat-

ing that the deal was board-approved, that time was of the essence, and that execution prior to his 

departure overseas was critical. In reliance on those representations, Mr. Jacobson authorized ap-

proximately $200,000 in legal expenditures to prepare and finalize the agreements on an expedited 

basis.  

72. Each of the draft agreements reflected the material terms previously agreed upon 

and contemplated an effective date of January 5, 2026, consistent with Mr. Williams’s stated dead-

line. The agreements incorporated the $25 million ELOC investment into Eddie Patent Holdings 

LLC, the issuance of 250 units to CJMB, the 6.25% royalty with escalating annual guaranteed min-

imums, the prime vendor and fulfillment arrangements, and the allocation structure related to the 

Judson Property. 

73. To minimize risk and address Mr. Jacobson’s previously expressed concerns re-

garding conflicts of interest and structural ambiguity surrounding the Judson Property, the pro-

posed real estate documentation expressly conditioned Giddy’s acquisition of the property on 

CJMB’s prior funding of the full $25 million investment through its ELOC. The drafts further 

preserved Giddy’s discretion to structure any property transaction in a manner that minimized 

Plaintiffs’ exposure to liability and financial risk. No obligation to acquire or fund the Judson Prop-

erty would arise absent CJMB’s completed capitalization. 
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 Despite Plaintiffs’ timeliness, neither Mr. Williams nor any other CJMB member 
responded meaningfully, and the January 5 deadline lapsed. 

74. Upon transmitting the execution-ready agreements on January 1, 2026, Mr. Jacob-

son requested confirmation of receipt and next steps. Mr. Williams did not respond until the fol-

lowing day and, when he did, stated only that he was reviewing the documents with counsel and 

would reconnect the following week. No revisions, execution instructions, or funding confirma-

tions were provided. 

75. The urgency Mr. Williams had previously imposed, insisting the agreements be ex-

ecuted by January 5 before his departure overseas, abruptly dissipated. Mr. Jacobson was con-

cerned by the shift in tone but continued to expect execution prior to the January 5 deadline that 

Mr. Williams himself had characterized as critical. 

76. During this interim period, Mr. Williams continued to communicate about periph-

eral matters. He texted Mr. Jacobson regarding a purported VA contact who was “excited” about 

Plaintiffs’ device and requested that product samples be sent immediately.  Relying on the still-

pending transaction and the expectation of imminent federal rollout, Mr. Jacobson arranged for 

overnight delivery of product samples valued at more than $10,000. Those samples were never 

paid for. 

77. January 5, 2026 passed without execution of the agreements, without funding, and 

without any meaningful communication from Mr. Williams or CJMB. No explanation was pro-

vided for the failure to meet the deadline Mr. Williams had repeatedly described as essential. 

78. On January 8, 2026, Mr. Jacobson finally spoke with Mr. Williams by telephone. 

Despite previously representing that he would review and respond to the agreements, Mr. Wil-

liams did not provide substantive feedback, proposed revisions, or a timeline for execution. In-

stead, the discussion was limited largely to general operational matters concerning potential VA 

opportunities.  

79. During that call, Mr. Williams referenced a vague “issue” with the ELOC but de-

clined to provide specifics. This was the first time Mr. Williams suggested any limitation or 
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complication concerning access to the $25 million he had previously represented was fully availa-

ble, unrestricted, and within his sole discretion. He stated that he needed to further discuss the 

matter with counsel, but no such follow-up call was ever scheduled. 

80. Mr. Jacobson again raised concerns regarding potential commingling, insider con-

flicts, and the structure of the Judson Property acquisition and Project Summit. Mr. Williams de-

nied any impropriety and represented that legal counsel had approved the structure. Mr. Williams 

further stated that he had wired deposits to secure the Judson acquisition, despite the previously 

agreed structure in which Giddy’s acquisition was expressly conditioned on CJMB’s prior funding 

of the $25 million investment. 

81. Because Mr. Williams provided no clarity regarding funding or execution, Mr. Ja-

cobson sought confirmation directly from Revival. Dr. Chao arranged a call with Mr. Fujioka. Dur-

ing that call, Mr. Fujioka expressed unfamiliarity with the details of the transaction and did not 

confirm that Revival would guarantee a $25 million bridge loan. He did not affirm prior represen-

tations that Revival would backstop CJMB’s funding. The call ended without confirmation of Re-

vival’s participation or support. 

 After Mr. Jacobson sent a letter to CJMB seeking clarity, Mr. Williams represents 
that the deal was not possible. 

82. On January 9, 2026, after repeated attempts to obtain confirmation regarding exe-

cution and funding, Mr. Jacobson sent an email to Mr. Williams and other CJMB board members 

attaching a formal written memorialization of the parties’ discussions, communications, and ac-

tions to date concerning the proposed $25 million investment, the royalty structure, the prime-

vendor arrangements, and the Judson Property transaction. The correspondence sought direct 

confirmation of CJMB’s intent and present ability to fund and close the transaction. 

83. Later that day, Mr. Williams responded in writing that, after discussions with coun-

sel and other board members, he had realized “that this 25-million-dollar investment is not feasible 

currently. Most of the ELOC was originally earmarked for capital expenses and acquisitions that 

were already presented to investors and the board.” 
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84. Defendants controlled information flow among CJMB’s directors and participants 

concerning the transaction and its sudden repudiation. For example, when Plaintiffs sought clari-

fication from director Liberty Duke immediately after Mr. Williams’s repudiation email, Ms. Duke 

stated she had been removed from the email thread and was unaware of the termination commu-

nication, further evidencing Defendants’ concealment and internal coordination surrounding the 

misrepresentations and reversal. 

85. Mr. Williams further stated, “This would have been a major shift and would not 

allow me to acquire the companies that we have identified. I know this is not what was anticipated 

from our discussions.” This representation directly contradicted Mr. Williams’s prior repeated 

assurances that (i) the ELOC was fully accessible and within his sole discretion to draw, (ii) no 

material restrictions or prior commitments limited its availability, (iii) no prior draws had materi-

ally reduced available capital, and (iv) the $25 million investment could be funded immediately in 

order to meet the January 5 execution deadline and January 26 contracting window. 

 Confused by CJMB’s sudden rejection, Mr. Jacobson calls Ms. Duke for an 
explanation. 

86. On the evening of January 9, 2026, confused by the abrupt repudiation of the trans-

action, Mr. Jacobson called Ms. Liberty Duke to seek clarification. Ms. Duke had not participated 

in the December 31 board call and had not been included in Mr. Williams’s written rejection of the 

deal. 

87. During that call, Ms. Duke represented that she was unaware of any formal board 

vote rejecting the transaction and had not been informed that the deal had been terminated. When 

Mr. Jacobson recounted the board call and subsequent communications, Ms. Duke spoke critically 

of fellow board member Eric Kash. She advised Mr. Jacobson to “run from any discussion with 

Eric,” attacked his competence by calling him “a walking idiot,” and further stated, “you can’t 

trust a pork-eating Jew.” Ms. Duke stated she had not been informed of Mr. Kash’s alleged firing 

but said she would have celebrated his removal. 
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88. Ms. Duke further advised Mr. Jacobson to “run from this right now,” expressing 

doubt as to how “the whole investment into CJMB, vice versa, would behoove you.” She then 

disclosed for the first time that CJMB’s ELOC was subject to what she described as a “7x deriva-

tive,” which effectively imposed a substantial financial penalty when funds were drawn. She stated 

that when CJMB withdrew “a million or two million dollars, we had an $800,000 penalty or what-

ever this derivative is.” Mr. Jacobson had never previously been informed of any derivative struc-

ture, penalty mechanism, or draw restriction affecting the ELOC. 

89. Ms. Duke also admitted that she was the individual who brought the Judson Prop-

erty and Project Summit opportunity to CJMB. She further acknowledged that the original purpose 

of the ELOC was to fund mergers and acquisitions, stating in substance, “the original purpose of 

the ELOC was for us to do these M&As.” She questioned why CJMB would “free up our ELOC 

to buy your company when we should be using our ELOC to buy Judson.” When Mr. Jacobson 

explained that Mr. Williams had represented the ELOC would not be used to purchase Judson 

directly but instead that Judson would be acquired through a separate entity, Ms. Duke did not 

reconcile the inconsistency and stated only that she “can’t even pull the 3.6 I need to secure Judson 

that I have 16 million in incentives on.” 

90. When Mr. Jacobson raised concerns regarding potential conflicts of interest and fi-

duciary obligations, particularly given CJMB’s status as a public company, Ms. Duke described 

what she characterized as common internal practices. She stated that the Williams family person-

ally owned warehouses from which CJMB and Coldchain operated and leased those properties 

back to the company. She further commented that “we can’t get Wayne’s kids out of the mix,” 

suggesting additional family involvement in company-affiliated transactions. When Mr. Jacobson 

asked who ultimately controlled decisions at CJMB and Coldchain, whether Wayne Williams or 

Donna Williams, Ms. Duke responded: “Donna. Make no mistake, Donna.”  

91. Ms. Duke then suggested that the transaction could potentially proceed at a re-

duced level, stating that perhaps “a million dollars” would be sufficient rather than the previously 
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promised $25 million investment. She proposed scheduling another meeting among CJMB, Re-

vival, and Plaintiffs to explore a revised structure. No such meeting was ever convened. 

 On January 15, 2026, CJMB announced a strategic teaming agreement with Attune 
Biotech Inc., and CJMB’s stocks soar. 

92. On January 15, 2026, less than one week after representing to Plaintiffs that the $25 

million investment was “not feasible”, CJMB issued a public press release announcing a strategic 

teaming agreement with Biostax Corp. d/b/a Attune Biotech Inc. (“Attune”), which it described 

as a “clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a diversified therapeutic pipeline.” The re-

lease stated that CJMB would serve as an “independent third-party overseer of Attune’s manu-

facturing, quality assurance and control, and deployment operations.” The announcement high-

lighted CJMB’s “federal contract experience,” including “DoD/VA pharmaceutical services,” 

and emphasized its “cold chain infrastructure” as a mechanism to accelerate Attune’s “path to 

federal deployment.” 

93. Upon information and belief, Attune’s public-facing website was updated or 

launched in its current form on or about January 15, 2026, contemporaneously with CJMB’s press 

release. 

94. Following the announcement, CJMB’s publicly traded stock experienced a substan-

tial increase in price and trading volume. On information and belief, the stock closed at approxi-

mately $1.12 on the trading day preceding the announcement and rose to approximately $4.20 fol-

lowing the release. The announcement was subsequently referenced by market commentators and 

financial tracking platforms. 

 Local Alabama news sources reported on CJMB’s suspected involvement in the 
Judson Property based on Ms. Duke’s involvement. 

95. The Perry County Herald, an independent local news publication covering Perry 

County, Alabama, where the former Judson College campus is located, published an article on Jan-

uary 18, 2026 reporting on a network of transactions connected to redevelopment efforts at the 
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Judson Property. The article described the involvement of multiple entities and individuals asso-

ciated with the proposed Project Summit initiative.  

96. The article identified Liberty Duke as “one of the key figures at the center of that 

network,” describing her role as a Montgomery-based lobbyist and her participation in public 

meetings on January 5 and January 13, 2026, at which the Marion City Council and the Perry 

County Commission approved tax abatements for Judson College Properties, LLC. The article 

noted that, at the time of publication, no publicly searchable corporate registration records for Jud-

son College Properties, LLC could be located in Alabama, Texas, or Delaware. 

97. The report further observed that little had been publicly disclosed about the own-

ership structure of the entity receiving the tax abatements. By referencing Ms. Duke’s affiliation 

with CJMB while describing her involvement in the Judson redevelopment approvals, the article 

reflected public uncertainty regarding the relationship among CJMB, its directors, and the pri-

vately held entity seeking state and local incentives. 

 Two days later, the Judson LLC changed its name to “Monarch Property 
Management, LLC.” 

98. On January 20, 2026, Judson College Properties, LLC filed a Certificate of Amend-

ment with the Alabama Secretary of State changing its name to “Monarch Property Management, 

LLC.” The amendment was executed and filed by Liberty Duke.4 

 
 
4  Attached as Ex. 3, Monarch Certificate of Amendment. 
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Figure 7: Excerpt from Monarch’s Certificate of Amendment 

99. The filing appended the entity’s original Certificate of Formation, which reflects 

that Judson College Properties, LLC was formed on January 7, 2026, two days after the January 5 

execution deadline lapsed and within days of Mr. Williams’s representations that deposits had 

been wired to secure the Judson Property. The Certificate of Formation identifies Wayne D. Wil-

liams as the organizer of the entity and lists 76 Calendula Street, Spring Branch, Texas 78070, Mr. 

Williams’s personal residence, as the company’s address. 

 Ms. Duke, at a subsequent Marion City Council meeting, excused the name change 
on vague compliance requirements and to distance it from Judson College. 

100. On January 20, 2026, the same day the Certificate of Amendment was filed, Ms. 

Duke attended a Marion City Council meeting at which she discussed general plans for pharma-

ceutical logistics operations at the former Judson College campus, including proposed warehouse, 

distribution, and handling operations for “regulated pharmaceutical components.” 

101. During that meeting, Ms. Duke stated that the entity’s name change from Judson 

College Properties, LLC to Monarch Property Management, LLC was intended to distance the 

redevelopment project from the defunct Judson College and to comply with state guidance associ-

ated with the requested tax abatements. 

102. Council members and members of the public, including Judson College alumni, re-

quested additional details regarding the ownership structure, future use of the campus, and the 
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scope of redevelopment plans. Ms. Duke responded that she and Monarch were subject to a non-

disclosure agreement and declined to provide further specifics. 

 Ms. Duke’s most recent disclosures to the Alabama Ethics Commission do not 
include her involvement with Monarch. 

103. On January 23, 2026, Ms. Duke filed a Lobbyist Registration Statement with the 

Alabama Ethics Commission for the 2026 reporting year.5 In that filing, she identified Coldchain 

Technology Services, LLC as a represented entity. The filing does not list CJMB, Judson College 

Properties, LLC, or Monarch Property Management, LLC as represented clients. 

104. Likewise, in Ms. Duke’s Quarterly Statement of Lobbying Activities dated January 

19, 2026,6 covering the reporting period of October through December 2025, she identified Cold-

chain but did not disclose representation of CJMB, Judson College Properties, LLC, or Monarch 

Property Management, LLC. 

 Public government databases indicate CJMB never held federal prime contracts, and 
Coldchain’s prior prime contracts were limited to packaging. 

105. Publicly accessible federal contracting databases, including USAspending.gov and 

related government procurement records, indicate that Callan JMB, Inc. (CJMB) has not held any 

federal prime contracts. 

106. Those same databases reflect that Coldchain Technology Services, LLC has been 

associated with approximately 122 federal contract awards, the majority of which were issued by 

the Department of Defense. Only one identified award involved the Department of Veterans Af-

fairs, and that contract terminated in or around 2015.  

107. The available contract descriptions indicate that Coldchain’s federal awards pri-

marily involved packaging-related services and materials. None of the identified awards reflect 

 
 
5  Attached as Ex. 4, Ms. Duke’s Lobbyist Registration Statement. 
6  Attached as Ex. 5, Ms. Duke’s Quarterly Statement of Lobbying Activities. 
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prime contracts for the distribution of medical devices or pharmaceutical products comparable to 

the federal rollout represented to Plaintiffs.  

108. Based on publicly reported obligation data, the average federal contract obligation 

amount associated with Coldchain’s prior awards is approximately $42,000.  

109. The most recent reported Coldchain federal contract terminated on or about Octo-

ber 22, 2025. As of that date, publicly available records do not reflect any active federal prime 

contracts held by CJMB or Coldchain. 

 A CJMB-filed SEC statement indicates it drew from its ELOC on August 7, 2025. 

110. On October 3, 2025, approximately two months before representing to Plaintiffs 

that the ELOC was fully accessible and unused, CJMB filed a Schedule 14C Information Statement 

with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. In that filing, CJMB disclosed that it had is-

sued a purchase notice to Hexstone Capital, LLC for approximately $550,000 in exchange for 

123,208 shares of common stock, pursuant to its Equity Line of Credit agreement. 

111. The Schedule 14C further disclosed material restrictions governing the ELOC, in-

cluding the following: 

Hexstone will not be required to buy any shares of Common Stock 
on any trading day on which the closing price of the Common Stock 
is below $1.00. The net proceeds under the ELOC Purchase Agree-
ment to us will depend on the frequency and prices at which we sell 
shares to Hexstone. We expect that any proceeds received by us 
from such sales to Hexstone will be used to support our operations, 
for working capital and for other general corporate purposes.” 

The filing thus reflects that access to ELOC proceeds was dependent upon stock price and market 

conditions and was not automatically or unconditionally available in lump-sum amounts. 

112. These public disclosures materially contradict Mr. Williams’s prior representations 

to Mr. Jacobson that (i) the ELOC was untouched, (ii) no prior draws had been taken, (iii) no re-

strictions or parameters limited access, and (iv) the full $25 million could be readily accessed at his 
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sole discretion in order to meet the January 5 execution deadline and January 26 contracting win-

dow. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

Count 1:  Violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c), (d) (Civil RICO) (against all Defendants) 

113. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding and following paragraphs. 

114. Defendants include individuals and entities organized under their respective states 

(i.e., Texas, Nevada, Alabama, and Delaware), and thus are “persons” as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 

1961(3). 

115. At all relevant times, Defendants formed an association-in-fact enterprise (the “En-

terprise”), as the term is defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). 

116. The Enterprise operated through CJMB’s corporate structure and affiliated in-

sider-owned entities to obtain money, inventory, services, government incentives, and strategic 

positioning through misrepresentations concerning financing capacity and federal contracting ca-

pability. 

117. The Enterprise affected interstate commerce by engaging in multi-state communi-

cations, international and interstate shipment of goods, securities transactions, and federal con-

tracting representations. 

118. In violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), Defendants conducted the Enterprise’s affairs 

through a “pattern of racketeering” activity, as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5). This pattern con-

sists of wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and other qualifying predicate acts, including the 

instruction for Plaintiffs to ship their goods internationally prior to funding, based on fraudulent 

representations of a deal that would have involved a $25 million investment into Plaintiffs; Plain-

tiffs’ interstate communications (including those with Ms. Duke in Alabama and Revival principals 

in California) that induced Plaintiffs’ performance; Defendants’ conspiracy to misrepresent to Al-

abama government authorities the extent of their respective involvement in Project Summit and 

their ability to invest $24.5 million therein; and the failure of Ms. Duke to disclose to the Alabama 
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Ethics Commission her conflicts of interest stemming from her involvement in Project Summit 

and Monarch. 

119. The racketeering acts were related because each depended on misrepresenting fi-

nancing capacity. Defendants made similar misrepresentations about their ability to fund invest-

ments to Plaintiffs, the State of Alabama, and Attune. Beyond Defendants’ intent to obtain incen-

tives in Alabama, Defendants also intend to use Project Summit and its partnership with Attune 

and Revival to secure prime contracts with the DoD and the VA—prime contracts Defendants had 

previously led Plaintiffs to believe they could readily obtain, but they were in fact contingent upon 

defrauding Plaintiffs into purchasing the Judson Property and funding Project Summit. 

120. Based on the foregoing and subsequently described activity, numerous individuals 

and entities, including Plaintiffs, have been injured by Defendants’ misconduct. 

121. There is a specific threat of repetition of Defendants’ misconduct extending indef-

initely into the future. 

122. There is no reason to suppose Defendants’ misconduct will not continue but for 

Plaintiffs’ filing of this lawsuit, including this civil RICO violation against Defendants. 

123. Defendants, their employees, and their agents each agreed to commit, participate 

and/or conduct at least two of the predicate acts described above, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1962(c). Defendants therefore violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). 

124. At all relevant times, Defendants have engaged in, and their activities affect, inter-

state commerce, as Defendants conduct their services in and among Texas, Alabama, California, 

and elsewhere in the United States, including both interstate and international channels of com-

merce used in Defendants’ buying, selling, and transporting goods and services per state and fed-

eral contracts. 

125. Defendants are liable, jointly and severally, to Plaintiffs for an amount equal to 

threefold their sustained damages and costs of suit, including but not limited to reasonable attor-

neys’ fees, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c). 

Case 3:26-cv-00885-X     Document 1     Filed 03/18/26      Page 30 of 35     PageID 30



plaintiffs’ original complaint   30 

Count 2:  Common-Law Fraud (against CJMB, Coldchain, the Williamses, Revival, and 
Dr. Chao) 

126. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding and following paragraphs.  

127. Defendants made material misrepresentations of fact (or made false promises to 

perform), including by and through the misrepresentations of at least the Williamses, Coldchain, 

Dr. Chao, and Revival: that CJMB had the ability, intent, and authority to invest up to $25,000,000 

in Giddy; that CJMB had not prior accessed funds through its ELOC and could access ELOC funds 

without restriction; that January 26, 2026, was a non-negotiable deadline requiring immediate ac-

tion; that the Judson Property acquisition would be performed by Giddy; that CJMB or Coldchain 

had the ability, intent, and authority to secure federal prime contracts on behalf of (or for the ben-

efit of) Plaintiffs; and that Revival could fund $25,000,000 as a bridge loan if CJMB could not pay. 

128. Defendants knew the statements were false when made (or were made with reckless 

regard of their truthfulness), as shown by their concealment of restrictions and conditions on 

CJMB’s ELOC; that CJMB had prior drawn around $500,000 from their ELOC; that Plaintiffs 

have not discovered the significance of January 26, 2026, to any official deadlines to secure prime 

contracts; that Mr. Williams paid the deposit for the Judson Property despite the expectation that 

Giddy would do so; that neither CJMB nor Coldchain had no current prime contracts, and that its 

prior prime contracts were significantly smaller in scope than the proposed arrangement and con-

templated performance unrelated to medical devices; Mr. Fujioka’s lack of knowledge and ap-

proval over the circumstances of the deal and the bridge loan; that the ELOC funds were previously 

earmarked for other projects; and Ms. Duke’s admissions. 

129. Defendants, with intent to deceive or defraud (or with disregard for the truth), con-

ducted the fraudulent acts that are the basis of this action. 

130. Plaintiffs justifiably relied on Defendants’ misrepresentations, false promises, 

and/or omissions to their detriment. 

131. Plaintiffs’ injuries include reliance costs, including Plaintiffs’ delivery of nearly 

$1,000,000-worth of devices delivered via international channels, and subsequent deliveries of free 
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samples, which were never repaid; loss of an investment opportunity of at least $20,000,000, 

whose investor now refuses to work with Plaintiffs due to Defendants’ deception; lost enterprise 

value from delayed commercialization and channel disruption, including lost opportunity costs in 

Plaintiffs’ decision to not seek prime contracts itself; and nearly $100,000 in legal fees and ex-

penses incurred in the preparation of the draft agreements that Defendants demanded be delivered 

in a compressed timeframe. 

132. Plaintiffs’ injuries resulted from Defendants’ actual fraud, which entitles Plaintiffs 

to exemplary damages under TEX. CIV. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 41.003(a). 

Count 3:  Negligent Misrepresentation (against CJMB, Coldchain, the Williamses, Re-
vival, and Dr. Chao) 

133. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding and following paragraphs. 

134. Defendants did not use reasonable care in obtaining or communicating the false rep-

resentations or promises as described in the foregoing allegations. 

135. Plaintiffs actually and justifiably relied on Defendants’ representation, which prox-

imately caused Plaintiffs’ injuries, as alleged in the preceding paragraphs. 

136. Plaintiffs’ injuries resulted from Defendants’ gross negligence, which entitles plain-

tiff to exemplary damages under Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 41.003(a)(3). 

Count 4:  Promissory Estoppel (against CJMB, Coldchain, the Williamses, Revival, and 
Dr. Chao) 

137. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding and following paragraphs. 

138. Defendants made express promises to invest in Plaintiffs, and accordingly induced 

Plaintiffs to perform, as more specifically described in the prior paragraphs.  

139. Plaintiffs reasonably and foreseeably relied to their detriment. 

140. Injustice can be avoided only by enforcement via the damages suffered by Plaintiffs’ 

reliance on Defendant’s promises. 
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Count 5:  Quantum Meruit (against CJMB, Coldchain, the Williamses, Revival, and Dr. 
Chao) 

141. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding and following paragraphs. 

142. By Defendants’ promises to perform, Plaintiffs conferred benefits upon Defend-

ants, which they accepted, as described in the foregoing sections. 

143. Defendants failed to perform as promised. 

144. Injustice can be avoided only by enforcement via the damages suffered by Plaintiffs’ 

reliance on Defendant’s promises. 

Count 6:  Civil Conspiracy (against all Defendants) 

145. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding and following paragraphs herein. 

146. At all relevant times, Defendants communicated, coordinated, and acted in concert 

concerning the proposed $25,000,000 investment into Plaintiffs; the acquisition and development 

of the Judson Property, per Project Summit; representations concerning CJMB’s federal prime-

contracting capabilities; and the availability and use of CJMB’s ELOC financing. 

147. The object of the conspiracy was to induce Plaintiffs to rely on representations that 

CJMB had immediate and unrestricted access to $25,000,000; forgo alternative financing oppor-

tunities; ship inventory and product samples without secured payment; and lend legitimacy, cred-

ibility, and leverage to Defendants’ Project Summit and related business initiatives. 

148. The conspiracy further sought to use Plaintiffs’ anticipated partnership and pro-

jected revenue to enhance Defendants’ strategic positioning with investors, government entities, 

and other third parties. Further, Defendants materially benefited from the public announcement 

of the Attune partnership, which triggered a stock spike that materially increased trading volume 

necessary to access the ELOC. 

149. A meeting of the minds may be inferred from Defendants’ coordinated conduct, 

communications, and shared objectives. 

150. In furtherance of the conspiracy, Defendants committed overt acts including, but 

not limited to, the misconduct underlying the torts as described in the foregoing paragraphs. 
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151. As a direct and proximate result of the conspiracy, Plaintiffs suffered damages, for 

which Defendants are jointly and severally liable. 

DAMAGES 

152. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding and following paragraphs. 

153. Plaintiffs are entitled to recover at least actual damages, lost profits, consequential 

damages, reliance damages, attorneys’ fees, pre-judgment and post-judgment interests, and court 

costs. 

154. Plaintiffs are also entitled to recover their respective damages sustained, interest, 

attorneys’ fees, and costs against Defendants, jointly and severally, under 18 U.S.C. § 1964. 

EXEMPLARY DAMAGES 

155. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding and following paragraphs. 

156. Pursuant to at least Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 41.003, Plaintiffs are entitled to 

exemplary damages because harm to them resulted from Defendants’ fraud or malice. 

157. Plaintiffs also demand punitive damages for Defendants’ RICO violations. 

ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

158. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding and following paragraphs. 

159. Pursuant to at least 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), Plaintiffs are entitled to reasonable attor-

neys’ fees.  

JURY DEMAND 

160. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding and following paragraphs. 

161. Plaintiffs request a trial by jury on all issues so triable.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiffs pray that the Court enter judgment awarding them the following relief: 

A. Actual damages; 

B. Treble damages; 
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C. Exemplary damages; 

D. Punitive damages; 

E. Attorneys’ fees and expenses; 

F. Costs; 

G. Pre- and post-judgment interest; and 

H. All other relief to which Plaintiffs are entitled. 

 

March 18, 2026 Respectfully submitted,  

 Griffith Barbee PLLC  

/s/ Casey Griffith  

 Casey Griffith 
 Texas Bar No. 24036687 
 Casey.Griffith@griffithbarbee.com 

 Joshua Yun 
 Texas Bar No. 24120335 
 Joshua.Yun@griffithbarbee.com 
 

One Arts Plaza 
 1722 Routh St., Ste. 910 
 Dallas, Texas 75201 
 (214) 446-6020 | main 
 (214) 446-6021 | fax 

Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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